
 
 
 

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

4.00 pm TUESDAY, 13TH OCTOBER, 2020 
 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place prior to this meeting and a separate 
invitation will be sent from Scrutiny Support Officers to  

Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
 

All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to 
being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used 

as outlined above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Environmental Wellbeing   

 To consider the attached report 
 

3 - 14 

4. Forward Work Programme 2020/21   

 To consider the attached report 
 

15 - 26 

5. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

6. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

7. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:  T Skinner (Chair) 

                     G Lewis (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors:   H R Jones, D Sammon, W R Smith and 

C T Jones 
 
Co-optees:    J Beard and C Payne 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 
 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Environmental Wellbeing  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, and 
how we intend to achieve these objectives is set out in our plan ‘Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our Community’.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing theme 
Environmental Wellbeing. 

 
1.2 The Council is committed to work with and support the communities to protect, 

enhance and promote the environment and countryside. 
 
1.3 Using the most recent performance information, this report establishes the current 

position for the wellbeing objective: Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.   

 
1.4 An annual review during 2018/19 highlighted the need to further refine and refresh the 

key outcomes.  This ensures that the outcomes clearly describe what the 
Environmental Wellbeing objective seeks to achieve.  Therefore, for 2019/20 it was 
decided to refocus the outcomes to support a more integrated/collaborative approach 
being taken to meet these.  The key long-term outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing 
are: 

 

 Increase the amount of metals and paper being recycled in the County  Borough 
 in order to meet and exceed the recycling targets set by Welsh Government;  

 Improving the standard of cleanliness on our highways;  

 Reduce the levels of fly-tipping; and 

 Produce and obtain Council approval of the Nature Recovery Plan. 
  
 

Date Written 2nd October 2020 

Report Author Judith Jones  

Service Area Neighbourhood Services  

Committee Date 13th October 2020 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



1.5 The report also includes information requested by Committee Members focusing on 
the newly implemented measure of the ‘average number of days taken to clear 
reported incidents’ and any implications this may have on the Council.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 The content of this report be discussed and performance information scrutinised. 
 
2.2 Scrutiny Committee Members offer any appropriate feedback to enable officers to 

consider when undertaking future service planning and delivery discussions. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  
 
 Legislative Context 

 

3.1 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 

maximising our contribution to the seven Wellbeing Goals.   

 
3.2  We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which 

means that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There 
are five ways of working that we need to do adopt in order to show that we have applied 
the sustainable development principle.  The five ways of working are: 

 

 Long Term  Prevention  Integrated 

 Collaboration  Involvement  

 
3.3 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 

improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s). 

 
           Strategic Context and Service Delivery  
 
3.4 The Council is committed to delivering excellent services. It will do this by delivering 

its key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners.  The key 
strategies that focus on delivering excellent services in Neighbourhood Services and 
Planning and Countryside are: 

 

 Replacement Local Development Plan 2016-2031; 

 Carbon Management Plan; 

 Open Space Strategy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil Recovery Plan; 

 Highways Maintenance Plan; 

 Winter Maintenance Plan 

Page 4

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents


 Corporate Asset Management Plan; and  

 Waste Management Plan. 
 
 
The Neighbourhood Services directorate works collaboratively with both external 
partners (such as MVH) and other departments within the Council. For example, we 
work closely with: the Learning department on recycling initiatives and 21st Century 
Schools projects aimed to enhance teaching and learning within a sustainable 
environment, which reduces recurrent costs, energy consumption and carbon 
emissions; other local authorities on regional projects such as Caerphilly County 
Council for the disposal of gulley waste; as well as with multiple partner organisations 
across both the third and private sectors in order to reduce fly-tipping and enhance 
street cleanliness. 

 
3.5 The Council’s contribution to achieving the seven wellbeing goals is outlined in our 

plan [Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community].  On 4th April 2018, Full 

Council approved a revised version of the Plan, which reduced the number of 

wellbeing objectives from 9 to 4. The new objectives can be found in Appendix 1. 

  
3.6  The Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services reports on the wellbeing theme 

Environmental Wellbeing objective and offer insights in the change of working practice 
linked to the wellbeing objective: Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.   

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1  At the end of 2017/18 the Council published its Annual Performance Report, which 

evaluated performance across all 9 wellbeing objectives at the end of year 1 of the 
corporate wellbeing plan Focus on the Future. 

 
4.2  The Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services and the Planning and Countryside team 

has the lead for Environmental Wellbeing, which at that time had two wellbeing 
objectives; these were: 
 

EW 1:  Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside; and  
 
EW 2: Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets. 

 
4.3  Our evaluation of performance in 2017 was Good.  The rationale for this judgment 

reflected the positive outcomes during 2017/18, as Merthyr Tydfil seen the amount of 
waste sent to landfill reduced further and the amount of waste recycled, reused and 
composted by residents once again exceeded the Welsh Government’s target.  In 
2016-17 and 2017-18, 100 per cent of all fly tipping incidents were cleared within 5 
days, ranking us the top performing Authority in Wales.  Also, there was a slight 
improvement in the cleanliness of our highways in 2017-18, taking us to 97 per cent.  
In addition, the total carbon dioxide emission from energy consumed by Council 
buildings reduced from 15808 in 2016-17 to 11758.   

 

Page 5

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4237/apr-2017-18-english.pdf


4.4 The Council also piloted a radically new approach to developing its heritage and 
culture assets in a new co-production model. In October 2017 at Cyfarthfa Castle, 
Merthyr Tydfil, the Design Commission for Wales and the Welsh School of Architecture 
at Cardiff University convened a multidisciplinary team to scope the possibilities within 
the town and surrounding landscape. This bold visioning exercise sought ways of 
making of Merthyr Tydfil’s heritage assets something greater than the sum of its parts, 
underlining its true international significance. This one-day charrette, or design day, 
brought together over 60 creative minds, architects, landscape architects, planners, 
heritage specialists and artists to examine and appraise the potential around Cyfarthfa, 
in the wider town and landscape so as to shape a vision for the future. This resulted 
in a strategic report that will form the Authorities strategic direction in relation to 
Heritage, Culture and tourism over the next 5 years. 

 
4.5  However, there were issues identified as even though significant improvement had 

been made in the waste recycled, reused and composted by residents over recent 
years, we recognised that we needed to do even more in order to meet Welsh 
Government’s ambitious targets.  Whilst good improvement had been made in 
reducing the total carbon dioxide emission from energy consumed by Council 
buildings, it is recognised that further work needed to be done to ensure that our 
buildings are as energy efficient as possible. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Following a review of year one of Focus on the Future, the nine wellbeing objectives 

were reduced to four.  The re-focused themes and objectives can be found in 
Appendix 1.   

 
5.2 Neighbourhood Services have changed and are continuing to develop the way they 

work. For example, Waste Services have a monthly strategy meeting to discuss 
current projects/initiatives, targets, capacity, resources and horizon scan.  This 
successfully allows the department to take a more integrated approach to the Waste 
Services area and work by sharing knowledge and resources. In addition to this, all 
Neighbourhood Services managers regularly meet to discuss and challenge each 
other with regards to the Self-Evaluations and the SER process. This has allowed for 
greater knowledge and best practises being shared across the Neighbourhood 
Services areas.  

 
5.3 The Environmental Wellbeing Strategy on a Page (SOAP) contains performance data 

for the selected local performance indicators over time (where available) to offer an 
opportunity to identify trends.  The Environmental Wellbeing SOAP is attached as 
Appendix 2. 

 
5.4  The latest Annual Performance Report (APR) 2018/19 was presented at Full Council; 

this provided an overview of the key corporate performance indicators.  The judgement 
allocated for 2018/19 was Adequate. 

 
5.5 We have included the data as it appears in the Annual Performance Report in Table 

1 (below), along with the reported data from the previous year for context.  We have 
also included the latest available data for 2019/20.  The table (below) has been 
updated to show whether the indicator is national or local; this amendment aims to 

Page 6



provide greater clarity on where the work undertaken by MTCBC contributes to the 
national position; or where the outcomes achieved are as result of MTCBC’s activity 
only (i.e.) MTCBC controls the project/programme.   
 
 
 
Table 1 

Type of 
Indicator 

Key Performance Indicators 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

National Average number of working days taken to 
clear fly-tipping incidents  

N/A 0.72 2.26 

National % of highways inspected of a high or 
acceptable standard of cleanliness  

97.2% 96.6% 96.5% 

National % of municipal waste reused, recycled, or 
composted1 

62.74 61.59 64.98 

National Kilograms of residual waste generated per 
person1 

N/A 185.2 178.45 

National Total carbon dioxide emissions from energy 
consumed by Council buildings  11,758 6,480 20,773 

Local Number of Priority Open Spaces (out of 23 
Priority Open Spaces) that meet or exceed 
the quality standard: Healthy, Safe and 
Secure. 

6 8 9 

 
5.5 There are some evidenced examples of good outcomes for the community in Fly-

tipping, Parks department, Street Cleansing and Waste.  However, on the whole, due 
to the year on year reduction in resources and budgets for the front line services, the 
outcomes for the community are considered to be adequate in that the services 
provided but are limited and are often re-active rather than preventative due to limited 
resources. 

 
5.6 The ‘average number of working days taken to clear fly-tipping incidents’ was a new 

statutory measure implemented in 2018/19.  The Council’s average number of working 
days to clear reported fly-tipping incidents on Council property in 2018/19 was 
recorded at 0.72 days; whereas, the Welsh average was 2.2 days.  

 
5.7 The ‘total carbon dioxide emissions from energy consumed by Council buildings’ 

reduced by 45% in 2018/19 compared to 2017/18.  The main factors for this significant 
reduction was the winter was far milder than previous years so we had on average a 
15% reduction in gas usage, and the UK government reduced the carbon factor of 
electricity by 20% in 2018.  In addition to this, the Authority also completed two less 
DEC’s in 2018/19 which gave a total less floor space of approximately 30,000m2. 

 

6.0 RESPONSE TO INFORMATION REQUEST OUTLINED BY THE 
COMMITTEE 

 

                                            
1 Local data provided – this data will not be verified by Waste Data Flow (WDF) until approximately November 
2020 

Page 7



6.1 Committee outlined in its Work Programme a requirement for officers to provide 
specific information on the new fly-tipping measure (average number of working days 
taken to clear fly-tipping incidents) particularly, any increases of fly-tipping incidents, 
increased costs, policy changes etc.  This section of the report will offer Committee 
Members an overview of the key developments in respect of these areas. 

 
6.2 The new fly tipping measure is the average number of days taken to clear incidents. 

Whereas the previous measure was based on the number of reported incidents 
cleared within 5 working days. 

 
6.3 The first table below shows the number of reported incidents during 2018/19 and 

2019/20, how long it took to clear the waste and the average number of days taken.  
The second table shows the accumulated data over the same period. 

 
PAM 35 measure 

 
 
 The Welsh Government definition of fly-tipping is as follows: 
 

A fly-tipping incident can be defined as a collection of fly-tipping waste i.e. waste that is too 
large to be removed by a normal hand-sweeping barrow.  In simple terms, a single full bin bag 
or more would constitute a fly-tipping incident.  Similarly, several carrier bags full of rubbish 
dumped together would also constitute a single fly-tipping incident.  
The number of working days taken to clear a fly-tipping incident is counted from the first 
recorded date that the fly-tipping incident is brought to the attention of/reported to the local 
authority, by whatever means (including by its own staff), to the date that the authority, its 
contractors or the perpetrator clears the waste.  
‘Clear’ means that the fly-tipping waste is removed by the local authority, its contractors or the 
perpetrator. 

 
Calculation: 

Numerator Number of working days taken to clear fly-tipping incidents. 

Technical title  Number of working days taken to clear fly-tipping incidents reported 
to the authority during the year. 

Page 8



Sourced from Local authorities. 

Denominator Number of fly-tipping incidents cleared. 

Technical title Number of fly-tipping incidents cleared by the authority during the 
year. 

Sourced from Local authorities. 

 
6.4 From the above calculations taken over a two-year period, you will see the following 

results. 
 

 There were 959 less reported incidents in 2019/2020 compared to the previous 
year, 2018/2019. 

 There has been an increase in the number of days taken to remove waste.  In 
2018/19 it took 0.72 days and in 2019/20 1.59 days (from 1 day to 2 days rounded 
up). 

 
6.5 There is a considerable reduction in reported incidents based on the success of the 

team’s prosecutions.  In 2018/2019 the Enforcement team had 10 successful 
prosecutions and these were publicised on our social media sites and via press 
release.  With these, we noticed a drop in reported complaints. 

 
6.6  The enforcement team were also very busy prioritising hot spot areas and 

implementing preventative measures i.e. signage throughout the County Borough, 
letter drops in problematic areas and warning tape where waste has been left close to 
properties.  Regular meetings are held with Corporate Communications and as a 
result, posts are placed on social media.  We have also reposted information from Fly 
Tipping Action Wales on our social media sites. 

 
6.7 The enforcement team have liaised with our colleagues in Waste and assisted with 

armistice days removing recyclable waste from MVH gardens on numerous occasions.  
We have undertaken various projects with Keep Wales Tidy and community groups 
throughout the County Borough i.e.  Periodic litter picks of the Bogey Road, removal 
of waste litter picked by Community Groups.  We have also assisted with network trunk 
road litter picking and helped the ranger with the removal of fly tipped waste on the 
Merthyr & Gelligaer common. 

 
6.8 Our clearance figures show an increase in days taken to remove waste, this is primarily 

due to one of our two teams being redeployed to Waste Services to work on the 
Keeping up with the Jones’s campaign, and therefore, we now have two fly tipping 
operatives instead of four.  

 
6.9 The enforcement team is a small team who are carrying out a difficult role under 

difficult circumstances.  We have also been called upon to assist with household 
removals after the floods that took place earlier this year, and now have the extra 
disruption of the current pandemic.  In spite of this, we are still carrying out removals 
of fly tipped waste and ‘mothballing’ all information found within waste to take forward 
for full investigation with the hope of prosecuting the persons responsible. 

 
6.10  The new measure has not resulted in any increased costs. In terms of policy, following 

discussions with the Cabinet member and Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services it 
has been decided that we should change the process of how we address fly tipping 

Page 9



on private land.  Previously we would investigate all incidents of fly tipping, even those 
on private land, but only remove waste on Council owned land.  This has now changed 
as we have introduced a policy to now also write to the land owner of private land 
advising them to remove the waste within a set time period, but still continue to take 
any investigations forward in relation to information found. 

 

7.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
7.1 By 2022, our ambition is for: 

 

 A reduction in the levels of waste created by residents and a resultant increase in the 
amount of waste recycled and re-used, in line with the Welsh government waste 
hierarchy. 

 Continued development of wildlife corridors throughout the County Borough. Wildlife 
corridors have a huge role to play in helping to minimise the impact of pollution and 
boost biodiversity habitats, whilst simultaneously providing positive health and 
wellbeing benefits for individuals and communities. 

 

 Increased use of renewable and low carbon energy throughout our estate.  

 

7.2 We have worked in collaboration with local housing associations to hold community 
recycling days, which we hope to continue into 2020/21. Work to develop the re-use 
shop at Unit 20 to open in 2020 will also contribute to the ambition to reduce waste. 
Internally our monthly Waste strategy meetings will continue to feed the development 
of our annual action plan setting out campaigns and proposals to encourage recycling 
as we move towards the challenging target of 70% in 2023. These plans are supported 
by bi-monthly meetings with WRAP who provide both guidance and challenge on our 
plans. The waste strategy meetings are complimented by monthly meetings with all 
front line managers to ensure all possible waste streams are captured in their work. 

 

7.3 Storm Dennis adversely impacted on the recycling rates achieved for 2019/20 due to 
the need for us to collect storm damaged furniture from affected properties. The storms 
also resulted in damage to trees within parks and an adjacent property, the impacts of 
which we are continuing to address with a resultant impact on budget. The clean-up 
and recovery necessary following the storms means that the Capital projects timetable 
will need to be reviewed in order to accommodate these projects being delivered 
alongside those already scheduled. A claim has been submitted to WG for £8.5m of 
works. 

 
7.4 We have taken the opportunity to review the storm events and learn from the 

experience, and in doing so have analysed the procedures we had in place and 
response available. The response of Neighbourhood Services staff both during the 
storms and since to plan the recovery has been excellent but we have identified areas 
where procedures could be refined and added to so that we can respond even better 
should these weather events occur again. We have drafted a specific emergency 
response flood plan to sit alongside the white out plan, both of which will feed into the 
Corporate Emergency Plan. 

 

Page 10



7.5 The Covid-19 pandemic has impacted on services in a number of ways with staff 
shielding and self-isolating, at one point 21% of Waste staff were off sick, 
Neighbourhood Services front line services were prioritised and staff redeployed 
accordingly during this time in order to ensure waste and recycling collections 
continued and cemeteries were appropriately staffed. A number of office-based staff 
are working from home but access to IT is limited and as such service delivery is 
compromised. 

 
7.6 Council adopted the Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP) in January 2020.  
 
7.7 Council adopted its first Carbon Management Plan in 2019 which should enable us to 

meet our goal of increasing the use of renewable and low carbon energy in our 
buildings.  

 

 

 

8 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 

 Continue to educate the public on recycling through campaigns such as ‘Keeping up 
with the Jones’s and open the re-use shop. 
 

 Meet the objectives set out in the Council adopted Nature Recovery Plan. 
 

 Implement the actions set out in the Council adopted Carbon Management Plan. 
 
8.1 Other key actions moving forward which will complement the above are to review the 

priorities in the BIPs and set an action plan for their implementation; to refine the 
monthly managers meetings in the professional side of Neighbourhood Services (i.e. 
Engineering, Planning, Estates etc.) to replicate the front line managers meetings; and 
to co-ordinate the office accommodation / agile working and corporate digital strategy 
in order to move towards making us a fit for purpose directorate. 

 

9.0    CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES/WELLBEING GOALS 

 
9.1 The improvement activities identified in this report directly contribute to our wellbeing 

objective: 
 

 Living Well: People are empowered to live independently within their communities, 

where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
Working Life: People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs 
of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an 
attractive destination.   

 
9.3 With regards to the Council’s contribution to the national wellbeing goals; this has been 

captured via a series of case studies which can be found in the Annual Performance 
Report 2018-19 which was recently published in line with the statutory deadline. 
 
 

Page 11

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/5685/merthyr-tydfil-nature-recovery-action-plan-2019.pdf
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s46592/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0


 
 

JUDITH JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER PLANNING & 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING & 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES  
 
 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) 

Date 
Document Location 

Nature Recovery Action 
Plan (NRAP) 

 https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/docume
nts/s47456/Background%20Paper%201.p
df?LLL=0  

Carbon Management Plan  2019 https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/docume
nts/s46592/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0  

   
 

Does the report contain any 
issue that may impact the 
Council’s Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
  

Page 12

https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s47456/Background%20Paper%201.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s47456/Background%20Paper%201.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s47456/Background%20Paper%201.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s46592/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s46592/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0


Appendix 1 
 
 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan Focus on the Future:  

Confirmed themes and wellbeing objectives for 2018/19 
 
 

Theme Wellbeing Objective 

Best Start 
Children and young people have the best start to life and 
are equipped with the skills they need to be successful 
learners and confident individuals. 

Working Life 

People feel supported to develop the skills required to 
meet the needs of businesses, with a developing safe 
infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive 
destination 

Environmental 
Wellbeing 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside 

Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good 
physical and mental health. 

Page 13



Appendix 2 
 

Communities protect, enhance and 
promote our environment and 

countryside 

Outcomes 

Environmental 
damage is minimised 

by preventing 
pollution 

To maximum the amount of 
materials and resources are 

recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy 

Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, 
biodiverse and connected green 
infrastructure and open spaces 

The use of renewable 
and low carbon energy 

is increased 

CHIEF OFFICER:  NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 
Contribution From: 
Waste Services 
Street Cleansing 
Property Services 
Environmental Health 
Planning and Countryside 

Environmental Wellbeing How will Merthyr Tydfil CBC work? 

* Local data provided – this data will not be verified by WDF until October 2019 
** The 2018/19 annual data shows a reduction in CO2 of 45% compared to 2017/18.  The main reasons are that the winter was much milder so we had on average a 15% reduction in gas usage and the UK government has 
reduced the carbon factor of electricity by 20% in 2018.  The Authority also completed 2 less DEC’s in 2018/19 which gave a total less floor space of approximately 30,000m2.  

P
age 14



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2020/21  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Forward Work Programme and approves, 
revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in 
planning for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached Forward Work Programme identifies the topics and issues under 
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional 
subjects to be identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 2nd October 2020 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 13th October 2020 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 16



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives? 

b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate 
priorities/ objectives? 

c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns? 
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest? 
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications? 
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department; 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue; 
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation/ review; 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 
 

 

Page 17



Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/ 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet 
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/ 
answer ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees 
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision 
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in 
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will 
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice 
from U.K. and Welsh Government. 

 
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a 
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional 
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports 
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting 
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand 
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites, 
regeneration projects etc. 
 
 

Page 18



Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public 
calls for evidence) 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 
 
 
 

  

APPENDIX I 

Page 20



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focuss ed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 

outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Date / 
Timing 

Overarching Item Cabinet Member & 
Officer(s)  

Scrutiny Focus  

22nd 
September 

2020 

Coronavirus Update – 

Response and Transition 

to Recovery 

 Cabinet Member – 
Governance; 
Performance; Business 
Change & Corporate 
Services 

 Head of Protection & 
Safety Services 

 

Scrutiny & Challenge:   Local councils have faced unprecedented events during 2020 

as a result of the pandemic and, more specifically, the impact of the prolonged 

period of lockdown.  
 

The Committee seeks a report that will enable them to review how the Council has 

responded to these circumstances; and how it has worked differently to 

manage/mitigate identified risks.  The report should acknowledge what the Council 

did well, what opportunities were identified and seized and what lessons have been 

learned; showing how these will be used to take the next required steps in the 

short and long-term. 

Draft Committee Work 

Programme 2018/19 

 

Committee Chair & 

Committee Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and to officially agree and 

sign off the Work Programme for 2020-2021 

 

13th October 
2020 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan: Environmental 
Wellbeing theme 

 Cabinet Member – 
Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning & Countryside 

 Chief Officer – 
Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning & Countryside 

 

Item deferred from 2019/2020 Work Programme (as a result of the pandemic) 
At the scrutiny meeting held on April 2019, Committee Members requested the 
Environmental Wellbeing theme within the Corporate Plan be presented at 
Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus on the following elements: 
 

“It has been over 12 months since new measures were introduced.  Members want 
to explore: 

 whether there has been any increase of incidents of fly-tipping.  

 whether costs have increased?   

 does policy require change? (e.g. black bin charge; waste transfer note charge 
etc.)”. 

The Committee will, through questioning; seek to understand the impact of the 
pandemic on services officers deliver.  Members aim to identify how lessons 
learned will help inform and shape services going forward to ensure identified 
needs can continue to be met in safe and responsive ways. 
 

Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee meeting, ensuring 
a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who 
will be drafting the report. 

P
age 21



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focuss ed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 

outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  

24th 
November 

2020 

The impact of Council 
Tax Debt Collection 
Process & Universal 
Credit on Tackling 
Poverty  

 Cabinet Member – 
Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning & Countryside 

 Chief Finance Officer 

 Revenues & Benefits 
Team Manager 

Scrutiny & Challenge: Following a visit to Citizens Advice Bureau; a recommendation 
was made by the Committee Chair to further explore this topic.  A CAB 
representative will be invited to attend to give a report on the impact of the 
processes and outline some of the issues people face within communities across 
the County Borough. 
 
Additionally; the Committee wants to understand the impact of the pandemic on 
CAB services. Members seek to identify how lessons learned will help inform and 
shape services going forward to ensure identified needs can continue to be met in 
safe and responsive ways. 

Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee meeting, ensuring 
a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who 
will be drafting the report. 

12th January 
2021 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan:  Living Well Theme 

 Cabinet Member – Social 
Services 

 Chief Officer – Social 
Services 

Scrutiny & Challenge: The Committee seeks a report outlining progress made 
against the Living Well theme within the Corporate Plan.  The report will outline 
progress made against the objective set down under this theme; and will identify 
challenges faced and opportunities identified and actioned. 
 

Additionally; the Committee seeks to understand the impact of the pandemic on 
officers delivering both Children’s and Adult social services and of the services users 
seeking support.  Members also seek to identify how lessons learned will help 
inform and shape services going forward to ensure identified needs can continue to 
be met in safe and responsive ways. 
 

Committee Work 
Programme 2020/21 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee meeting, ensuring 
a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who 
will be drafting the report. 

P
age 22



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focuss ed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 

outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

9th February 
2021 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan:  Best Start Theme 

 Cabinet Member – 
Education 

 Chief Officer – Education 

Scrutiny & Challenge: The Committee seeks a report outlining progress made 
against the Best Start theme within the Corporate Plan.  The report will outline 
progress made against the objectives set down under this theme; and will identify 
challenges faced and opportunities identified and actioned. 
 

Additionally; the Committee seeks to understand the impact of the pandemic on 
officers delivering Education; early years and childcare; youth and adult education 
services.  Members seek to identify how lessons learned will help inform and shape 
services going forward to ensure identified needs can continue to be met in safe 
and responsive ways. 

Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee meeting, ensuring 
a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who 
will be drafting the report. 

23rd March 
2021 

Refocused Statement of 

Wellbeing and Corporate 

Plan – Focus on the 

Future: wellbeing in our 

community 

 Cabinet Member – 
Governance, 
Performance, Business 
Change & Corporate 
Services 

 Head of Corporate 
Services 

Scrutiny & Challenge:   The Council is required to meet its statutory duty of 
refocusing and publishing its Statement of Wellbeing and Corporate Wellbeing Plan 
annually.  Committee Members are required to scrutinise both of these documents 
to review how well the Council is meeting its requirements against the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee meeting, ensuring 
a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who 
will be drafting the report. 

4th May 2021 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan:  Working Life 
Theme 

 Cabinet Member – 
Community 
Regeneration & Public 
Protection 

 Chief Officer – 
Community 
Regeneration; Public 
Protection & Housing 

Scrutiny & Challenge: The Committee seeks a report outlining progress made 
against the Working theme within the Corporate Plan.  The report will outline 
progress made against the objective set down under this theme; and will identify 
challenges faced and opportunities identified and actioned. 
 

Additionally; the Committee seeks to understand the impact of the pandemic on a 
wide range of services: Housing and Homelessness; Economic Development & 
Business Support; Protection & Safety Services; Sports Development/ Heritage & 
Culture services so Members can clearly identify how lessons learned will inform 
and shape activities going forward.  The Committee also seeks to understand how 
the impact of lockdown and subsequent lessons learned will support wider 
economic recovery across the County Borough. 

P
age 23



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focuss ed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 

outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

MTCBC Recovery 

Transformation & 

Improvement Plan 

 Chief Executive Officer 

 Head of Corporate 
Services 

 Chief Officer – Education 

 Chief Officer – 
Community 
Regeneration; Public 
Protection & Housing 

 Chief Officer – 
Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning & Countryside 

 Chief Officer – Social 
Services 

Focus of this report to be discussed at the first scrutiny committee meeting  

 
Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

 P
age 24



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focuss ed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 

outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

 
 
 

Additional topics for consideration 

Topic Cabinet Member & 
Officer(s) 

Description Scheduled 

Local Authority 
Support to the Third 
Sector Services 

 Chair of 
Governance 
Scrutiny Committee 

 Chief Officer – 
Community 
Regeneration;  

 Head of Housing & 
Economic 
Development 

 EU & External 
Funding Manager 

This item was originally received as a result of a WAO report. Subsequent to the item 
being discussed at the scrutiny meeting an email was sent to the Chief Executive and 
the Cabinet Portfolio Member. As a result of scrutiny’s involvement a report was 
submitted to the Governance Services Scrutiny Committee meeting on 13th February.  

 

Human Resources  Cabinet Member – 
Governance, 
Performance, 
Business Change & 
Corporate Services 

 Head of Human 
Resources 

  

Following updates received during 2019/2020; Committee Members request officers 
return to the Committee to offer further updates on the current status with particular 
reference being made to the following areas: 

 The capability process; 

 A breakdown of where SPODs; 

 An update on work-based stress and the Council’s response to this; 

 A breakdown of the current situation in relation to agency workers 
 

Additionally, the Committee is aware the Human Resources Team has undertaken 
significant work to support the change of working practice for officers across the 
Council to work remotely/agilely. 

 

Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual Violence 

 Safer Merthyr 
Tydfil/ New 
Pathways  

Members requested a report outlining the impact of domestic abuse and sexual 
violence on local people.  In relation to sexual violence, the Committee should outline 
the impact of sexual violence on communities (i.e.) STI’s; pregnancies; impact on 
mental health and offer basic detail on the support structure available for victims. 

 

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Environmental Wellbeing
	4 Forward Work Programme 2020/21
	Appendix 1


